FILED WITH PERMISSION

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

S263923

v.

VICTOR WARE et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, No. D072515 San Diego County Superior Court No. SCD255884 The Honorable Leo Valentine, Jr., Judge

2ND PETITION <u>PETITION FOR REVIEW</u> (for Victor Ware)

DAVID L. POLSKY Attorney at Law CA Bar No. 183235

P.O. Box 118 Ashford, CT 06278 Telephone: (860) 429-5556 Email: polskylaw@gmail.com

By appointment of the Court of Appeal under the Appellate Defenders, Inc., independent case system.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the prosecution presented insufficient evidence of a conspiracy to commit murder as charged in count 1.
- 2. Whether the prosecution presented insufficient evidence to support Mr. Ware's conviction in count 9 of conspiracy to commit attempted murder under Penal Code section 182.5.
- 3. Whether the prosecution presented insufficient evidence that the March 25, 2014 shooting was a gang crime under Penal Code section 186.22.

- 4. Whether the prosecution presented insufficient evidence that Mr. Ware possessed the Ruger handgun found during the April 23, 2014 search.
- 5. Whether the prosecution presented insufficient evidence that Mr. Ware's possession of the Hi-Point handgun found on April 23, 2014 occurred within the charged offense's statute of limitations.
- 6. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to move to suppress the gun found during the January 29, 2014 patdown search of Mr. Ware.
- 7. Whether trial counsel violated Mr. Ware's Sixth

 Amendment right to counsel by conceding his guilt of the firearm
 possession counts against his will.
- 8. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by conceding Mr. Ware's guilt of all three counts of unlawful firearm possession.
- 9. Whether the trial court erred by imposing sentence for both the conspiracy to commit murder in count 1 and the attempted murder in count 10, which was the object of that conspiracy.
- 10. Whether CALCRIM 418 lowered the prosecutor's burden of proof with respect to the conspiracy in count 1.

STATEMENT REGARDING NECESSITY FOR REVIEW

Mr. Ware and other members of the 5/9 Brim (Brim) street gang were convicted of various offenses arising out of an alleged conspiracy to kill members of their rivals, the Neighborhood Crips (NC) and the West Coast Crips (WCC), spanning from January 1, 2012 to April 23, 2014. The evidence showed Mr. Ware was the getaway driver in a shooting committed by another individual on March 25, 2014 alleged as part of that conspiracy. Review of this case is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and settle the important questions presented herein (discussed below) within the meaning of California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).

A. Arguments I, II, III

The Court of Appeal upheld the jury verdicts finding Mr. Ware guilty of conspiracy to commit murder (Pen. Code, § 182; count 1) and conspiracy to commit attempted murder (§ 182.5; count 9) and its finding that the March 25, 2014 shooting was gang related (§ 186.22; count 10). Regarding count 1, the court relied substantially on Mr. Ware's membership in his gang, rendering him guilty by mere association, in contravention of well-settled state and federal authority. Regarding all three findings, the court also relied on its belief that the evidence showed the target of the March 25 shooting was a WCC member and the shooter was a member of Brim. However, the gang membership of both the target and shooter was speculative. Accordingly, the evidence was insufficient to support those jury findings.

B. Arguments IV, V

Next, the appellate court upheld Mr. Ware's convictions for unlawful possession of two firearms—Ruger and Hi-Point handguns—found in his sister's locked bedroom during a police search on April 23, 2014 (§ 29800; counts 12 and 13). The court held there was sufficient evidence Mr. Ware constructively possessed the guns. That conclusion too was speculative, and there was no evidence that Mr. Ware ever actually possessed the guns within the crime's three-year statute of limitations period.

C. Argument VI

The reviewing court refused to address the merits of Mr. Ware's claim that his trial attorney rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance by not moving to suppress a gun found on him during a detention and patdown search on January 29, 2014 (§ 29800; count 8) because the record did not disclose reasons for the attorney's omission or the officer's conduct. The court was incorrect. During a *Marsden* hearing, defense counsel was asked for and offered an explanation. Moreover, at trial, the officer was questioned in depth regarding his reason for the stop and frisk. The record is clear that the officer violated the Fourth Amendment and that counsel had no rational reason for failing to move to suppress. In refusing to consider the issue, the Court of Appeal misapplied *People v. Mendoza Tello* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 264.

D. Arguments VII, VIII

At trial, defense counsel conceded Mr. Ware's guilt with respect to the firearm possessions charged in counts 8, 12 and 13 over his client's express and repeated objections. On appeal, Mr. Ware contends the concessions violated the Sixth Amendment pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's recent decision in *McCoy v. Louisiana* (2018) ___U.S.__ [138 S.Ct. 1500, 200 L.Ed.2d 821]. The Court of Appeal disagreed, holding that Mr.

Ware's unambiguous objections were not enough and that *McCoy* only applies if the basis for the objections was a claim of factual innocence. The court misapplied *McCoy*; reliance on factual innocence is not required. In any event, Mr. Ware's basis for objecting to two of the counts was factual innocence—he did not possess the guns. Mr. Ware also contends that, because he had viable defenses to all three counts, his attorney rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance in conceding guilt. The appellate court rejected that contention, incorrectly finding no viable defenses existed.

E. Argument IX

The trial court ordered Mr. Ware to serve separate prison sentences for both the conspiracy to kill Crips in count 1 and the attempted murder of a member of the Crips in count 10. Mr. Ware contends section 654 barred separate punishments for both the conspiracy and the substantive offense, which was an object of that conspiracy. The Court of Appeal disagreed, misapplying both *In re Cruz* (1966) 64 Cal.2d 178 and *People v. Latimer* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1203.

F. Argument X

The jury was instructed pursuant to CALCRIM 418 that, in deciding whether Mr. Ware was guilty of conspiracy in count 1, it could consider the extrajudicial statements of alleged co-conspirators if the prosecutor established certain elements by a preponderance of the evidence. Mr. Ware contends the instruction lowered the prosecutor's burden of proving the conspiracy in count 1. The Court of Appeal disagreed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Ware adopts and incorporates by reference the summary of the case and the factual background found at pages 2-19 of the Court of Appeal's opinion, attached hereto as an appendix. Mr. Ware addresses any areas of disagreement regarding the facts within the arguments presented below.

Mr. Ware raised the same issues in the Court of Appeal that he raises in the instant petition. In its opinion filed July 21, 2020, the Court of Appeal agreed Mr. Ware's case should be remanded for resentencing because the trial court erred by increasing his punishment in count 10 under both sections 186.22 and 12022.53 and to allow the trial court the opportunity to exercise its discretion to strike the firearm enhancement in count 10 under Senate Bill No. 620. (App. A [Opn., at pp. 88-89].) It rejected Mr. Ware's other arguments.

Mr. Ware filed a petition for rehearing. In an order filed August 12, 2020, the Court of Appeal modified its opinion in various respects, including authorizing the trial court to consider on remand whether Mr. Ware's prior prison term enhancement should be stricken under Senate Bill No. 136. (App. A [Order, at p. 2].) However, it affirmed the judgment. (*Ibid.*)

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE PROSECUTION PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF A CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MURDER AS CHARGED IN COUNT 1

Mr. Ware contends there was insufficient evidence supporting his conviction for conspiracy to commit murder in count 1. It is well settled that the prosecution must prove all elements of the charged offense and all "facts necessary to establish each of those elements" beyond a reasonable doubt. (Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 277-278 [113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182], internal citations omitted; accord, People v. Flood (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 524; see U.S. Const., 5th, 14th Amends.) A reviewing court must conclude the prosecution failed to satisfy its burden if, viewing the record in the light most favorable to the judgment, a rational trier of fact could not have found all the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. (Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 319 [99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560]; People v. Marshall (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1, 34.)

"A conspiracy is an agreement by two or more persons to commit any crime." (*People v. Cook* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 910, 918.) To prove a conspiracy, the prosecution must present substantial evidence that (1) the accused and another person "agreed to commit a crime," (2) a conspirator committed an alleged overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy, and (3) "the conspirators had the specific intent to (a) agree or conspire and

(b) commit the offense that is the object of the conspiracy."
(People v. Cooks (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 224, 311, fn. omitted.)
There was no evidence Mr. Ware was a party to a global agreement "to kill suspected Neighborhood Crip [NC] and West Coast Crip [WCC] gang members," as charged in the information. (4CT 872.) Furthermore, there was no evidence he had the requisite intent for the conspiracy.

Preliminarily, the prosecution did not have any *direct* evidence that Mr. Ware agreed to be part of a war against Crip members, such as a meeting at which Mr. Ware made oral or written statements agreeing to the object of the conspiracy. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal held there was circumstantial evidence of the requisite agreement.

As evidence of an agreement, the court relied on the following facts: (1) Mr. Ware and the coconspirators were members of the Brim street gang; (2) they were also members of a subset known as the Hit Squad, and "hit" means kill; (3) the Crips were Brim rivals; and (4) Mr. Ware knew a Brim member named Dereck Peppers, who was killed by a Crips member. (App. A [Opn., at pp. 23-24].) The court also relied on Mr. Ware's conviction of "attempting to murder a WCC gang member in March 2014" in count 10 and his moniker "CK Vick," with "CK" purportedly meaning "Crip Killer." (App. A [Opn., at p. 25].) Regarding the requisite intent to kill, the court cited Mr. Ware's conviction in count 10 again. (App. A [Opn., at p. 25].)

The Court of Appeal's analysis is flawed. Setting aside the conviction in count 10 and the moniker, the remaining facts

essentially render all Brim members party to the conspiracy. In other words, if those facts are sufficient, mere membership in the gang and that subset established the requisite agreement. That is the epitome of guilt by association. As is well established, "[m]ere association alone cannot furnish the basis for a conspiracy." (People v. Donahue (1975) 46 Cal.App.3d 832, 840; see also United States v. Garcia (9th Cir. 1998) 151 F.3d 1243, 1246 ["evidence of gang membership cannot itself prove that an individual has entered a criminal agreement to attack members of rival gangs"].)

The moniker evidence is no more probative of the required agreement than the membership evidence. Absent evidence how Mr. Ware arrived at or was given that moniker, it is speculation to infer it reveals anything about his desire, willingness or motive to kill anyone. To the extent the moniker might reflect such a motivation or desire, the fact that one had a motive to commit a crime committed by another "is not sufficient to establish a conspiracy, nor is motive coupled with mere suspicion and evidence of mere relation or association between the parties sufficient to show conspiracy." (*Baisden v. Commonwealth* (1938) 272 Ky. 267, 271 [114 S.W.2d 73, 74].) When Mr. Ware received the moniker is also important. The prosecution failed to show it did not predate the alleged agreement that was the basis for count 1, which would destroy is probative value with respect to whether Mr. Ware joined any subsequent conspiracy.

Finally, the Court of Appeal was simply wrong when it concluded that Mr. Ware was convicted in count 10 of attempting

to murder a WCC member. The court repeated this factual claim more than once, even writing that two witnesses testified that M.W., a WCC member, was the target of the March 25, 2014 shooting that was the basis for the count 10 conviction. (App. A [Opn., at pp. 16, 25, 37, 49].) Mr. Ware maintains that the evidence regarding the identity of the shooting's target was speculative and thus insubstantial.

Only two prosecution witnesses—Sandra Dominguez (25RT 3772 et seq.) and Maria Salinas (25RT 3736 et seq.)—observed the shooting. Ms. Dominguez testified that she saw the shooter but could not see at what he was shooting. (25RT 3776, 3784-3785, 3788.) Ms. Salinas testified that she saw Mr. Ware's companion shooting towards a Black male running east on K Street. (25RT 3741-3742, 3750.) She said she believed the runner was the target but could not identify him. (25RT 3750-3751, 3753.) Neither witness could say the target was a WCC member let alone any specific person.

The only witness to mention M.W. (who was a WCC member) as a possible target was Detective Cisneros. The detective testified that, based on his investigation, he believed M.W. was the target. (27RT 4010.) He said his belief was based on a witness telling him that M.W. was running in the area and a conversation he had with M.W. as well. (27RT 4010.) The detective did not recount the details of the conversation with M.W. When asked if anyone told the detective that M.W. was the target, he responded only that a witness told him M.W. ran "toward the green house" after the shooting. (27RT 4011.) He

explained that the house to which the witness said M.W. ran after the shooting was on J Street and that M.W. was seen running towards J Street during the shooting. (27RT 4010.) The detective also admitted that it would not be unusual for someone to run upon hearing gunshots and that the information he received "at least" placed M.W. in the area. (27RT 4011.) The detective also testified a witness described seeing another person running as well, who remained unidentified. (27RT 4012.)

The detective was not a percipient witness to the shooting. Instead, he based his opinion on information he claimed to have received from others. His was not an expert opinion. (See *People* v. Jones (2012) 54 Cal.4th 1, 60 [matter qualifies as proper subject for expert testimony if sufficiently beyond common experience that the opinion of an expert would assist the jury].) Rather he was merely expressing a lay opinion based on hearsay. (See People v. Dalton (2019) 7 Cal.4th 166, 231 [witness may not offer lay opinion that goes beyond the facts he personally observes].) In doing so, he applied his own credibility determination, a task that should have been left for the jury. He discounted the statement of the witness identifying a second person running and concluded on his own that M.W. was actually the target. He provided the jury with no basis for making an independent credibility determination; he merely asserted his own conclusion.

In fact, the information he claimed to have received regarding M.W. was inconsistent with Ms. Salinas's description of the target. She said he was running east on K Street. The

detective said he was running towards a house on J Street. K Street and J Street are parallel, both running east and west; one does not lead to the other. (See 25RT 3741.)

Simply because a witness is able to express such an opinion does not mean it is substantial enough to support a conviction. The detective speculated that M.W. was the shooter's target. (See *People v. Edwards* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 658, 727 [lay opinion not rationally based on the perception of the witness is "wholly speculative"].) Speculation is not substantial evidence. (*People v. Waidla* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 690, 735.) That rule does not change merely because the jury heard the speculative testimony.

Thus, the evidence was insufficient to support a finding that Mr. Ware agreed to be a party to the conspiracy or had the required intent to be guilty of conspiracy. Mr. Ware's conviction in count 1 must be reversed.

II.

THE PROSECUTOR PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT MR. WARE'S CONVICTION IN COUNT 9 OF CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ATTEMPTED MURDER UNDER PENAL CODE SECTION 182.5

Mr. Ware was convicted in count 9 of being a party to a gang conspiracy based on the theory that he assisted "members" of a criminal street gang in the commission of the March 25, 2014 attempted murder in violation of Penal Code section 182.5. (4CT 884, 990, 1005.) Mr. Ware submits there was insufficient evidence supporting that conviction. The standard of review is presented above. (Argument I, *ante.*)

Penal Code section 182.5 provides as follows:

Notwithstanding subdivisions (a) or (b) of Section 182, any person who actively participates in any criminal street gang, as defined in subdivision (f) of Section 186.22, with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity, as defined in subdivision (e) of Section 186.22, and who willfully promotes, furthers, assists, or benefits from any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang is guilty of conspiracy to commit that felony and may be punished as specified in subdivision (a) of Section 182.

(Emphasis added.) Consistent with that statute, the jury was instructed, *inter alia*, that the prosecutor had to prove Mr. Ware "willfully promoted, furthered, assisted or benefitted from, the commission of the March 25, 2014 Deliberate and Premeditated Attempted Murder *by members of the gang*." (4CT 990, emphasis

added.) Mr. Ware submits that the jury was required to find the direct perpetrator of the March 25, 2014 shooting was a member of Brim (see *People v. Rodriguez* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 1125, 1132 [statutory reference to "members of the gang" means criminal conduct committed by at least two gang members, one of whom can be the defendant]) and failed to do so.

The Court of Appeal agreed that the prosecutor was required to prove Mr. Ware's companion, the shooter, was a Brim member and that the shooter was never identified. (App. A [Opn., at pp. 35-36].) However, the court held that the evidence Brim was in a war with the Crips and the shooter targeted "a WCC gang member" was sufficient to permit the jury to infer "Ware drove a trusted Brim gang member into rival gang territory to commit the shooting." (App. A [Opn., at p. 37].)

Again, the court upheld a jury finding based on a misunderstanding of the facts. As discussed above (Argument I, *ante*), there was insufficient evidence the target of the shooting was a WCC member. Thus, there was no basis for the jury to conclude the shooter was a member of Brim. Mr. Ware's conviction in count 9 must be reversed.

III.

THE PROSECUTION PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT THE MARCH 25, 2014 SHOOTING WAS A GANG CRIME UNDER PENAL CODE SECTION 186.22

The jury found that the prosecution proved all the elements of the gang enhancement alleged in count 10 under section 186.22. Mr. Ware contends the evidence supporting the enhancement was lacking. There was insufficient evidence that the shooting was either (1) gang related, or (2) conducted with the specific intent to further criminal conduct by gang members. The standard of review applicable to sufficiency challenges is detailed above. (Argument I, *ante*.)

Section 186.22, subdivision (b), mandates an additional punishment for

any person who is convicted of a felony committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with any criminal street gang, with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in any criminal conduct by gang members.

Thus, there are two "prongs" to the enhancement. (*People v. Albillar* (2010) 51 Cal.4th 47, 59.) The first prong requires that the prosecution prove the underlying felony was "gang-related." (*Albillar, supra,* 51 Cal.4th at p. 60; *People v. Gardeley* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 605, 622.) A felony is gang related if it is committed (1) for the benefit of a gang; (2) at the direction of a gang; or (3) in association with a gang. (See *Albillar*, at pp. 59-60.) The second prong "requires that a defendant commit the gang-related felony

'with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in any criminal conduct by gang members." (*Albillar*, at p. 64; § 186.22, subd. (b)(1).)

The Court of Appeal held the evidence was sufficient that the shooting benefited the Brim street gang because its target was a WCC gang member. (App. A [Opn., at p. 49].) The court also held the association element was proven because the shooter and Mr. Ware were both Brim members. (*Ibid.*) However, as previously discussed (Arguments I, II, *ante*), the evidence failed to prove either that the shooting's target was a member of the Crips or that the shooter was a member of Brim.

The lower court also relied on its belief that the shooting targeted a "rival gang member" to establish the requisite specific intent. (App. A [Opn., at pp. 49-50].) Once more, the evidence that the target was a WCC member was insubstantial.

Accordingly, as argued below, the gang finding in count 10 must be reversed. In addition, the firearm enhancement under section 12022.53 in count 10 must also be reversed. That enhancement was imposed under the theory that a principal, and not Mr. Ware, discharged the firearm, which also required a finding that the shootings were for the benefit of a gang. (§ 12022.53, subd. (e).) Absent a valid gang finding, the firearm enhancement cannot stand.

THE PROSECUTION PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT MR. WARE POSSESSED THE RUGER HANDGUN FOUND DURING THE APRIL 23, 2014 SEARCH

Mr. Ware was convicted in counts 12 and 13 of possession of a firearm by a felon in violation of section 29800, subdivision (a)(1), based on the police discovering two firearms—Hi-Point (count 13) and Ruger (count 12) handguns—in the bedroom of his sister, Victoria Ware, during their April 23, 2014 search. Mr. Ware submits that, while there was evidence permitting the inference that he actually possessed the Hi-Point handgun at some point, there was no evidence that he either actually or constructively possessed the Ruger or even knew of its presence in the residence. Again, the applicable standard of review was delineated above. (Argument I, *ante.*)

The Court of Appeal implicitly conceded there was no evidence Mr. Ware actually possessed the Ruger. (App. A [Opn., at p. 54].) Instead, the court held the evidence showed he constructively possessed it at the time it was found. The court wrote that the Hi-Point's presence in the bedroom "shows that Ware had access to this room and suggests that he shared dominion and control of this room with his sister." (*Ibid.*) The court also relied on the fact that the Ruger was stolen on January 29, 2014 from a residence by Nino Sanchez, a fellow gang member, and testimony that gang members store "guns where

officers do not have ready access." (*Ibid*.) The court's analysis is flawed.

Constructive possession requires that the accused maintain control or a right to control the item in question. (*People v. Newman* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 48, 52.) It may be imputed to the accused when it is found in a place that is subject to his and another's joint dominion and control. (*Ibid.*) In addition to control, a key element of constructive possession is "knowledge of the presence and character of the object." (*People v. Jurado* (1972) 25 Cal.App.3d 1027, 1030.)

There was no evidence connecting Mr. Ware to the room in which the Ruger was found. The evidence showed it belonged to and was occupied by his sister. There was no evidence she shared occupancy with anyone else or granted Mr. Ware access to it. Notably, the room had a lock on its door, and when police searched the residence, that door was locked, suggesting that Victoria actively used the lock to exclude people from it. There was no evidence she ordinarily left the door unlocked on other occasions. Additionally, the prosecutor presented no evidence that Mr. Ware had a key to that bedroom.

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