In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S263923

 \mathbf{v} .

VICTOR WARE, et al.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D072515 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD255884 The Honorable Leo Valentine, Jr., Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

REASONS FOR DENIAL OF PETITION

Review of the issue presented is unnecessary. Petitioner has identified no conflicting decisions by the courts of appeal nor any important unsettled question of law warranting a grant of review. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) Rather, petitioner seeks to relitigate a sufficiency of evidence claim. The application of settled law to the particular facts of this case is not an appropriate ground for review.

ARGUMENT

I. PETITIONER HAS NOT ESTABLISHED A VALID GROUND FOR THIS COURT TO GRANT REVIEW

At the outset, this Court should deny the petition for review because petitioner has not shown why review is authorized or appropriate. The permissible grounds for review by this Court are set forth in the California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b). Petitioner does not cite to Rule 8.500(b)(1) in his petition, nor does he aver that his petition meets any of the criteria for review set forth therein. (Pet. at p. 9-20.) He claims only that "review is necessary because the Court of Appeal opinion relied on unreasonable and unsupported inferences to uphold the conviction for conspiracy to commit murder thereby violating Hoskins's federal constitutional rights." (Pet. at p. 20.) While the resolution of that question may be important to him, it is not an issue that would secure uniformity of law or answer a question of statewide importance. He does not explain how or why the diverse situations of numerous current and future

defendants would be impacted by the particular decision in this case.

Thus, the issue presented is nothing more than a disagreement with the Court of Appeal's analysis of the sufficiency of the evidence. For this reason, this Court should reject the petition for review in light of Rule 8.500(b) and the policies that inform the appropriateness of review.

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY FOUND THAT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MURDER CONVICTIONS

The Court of Appeal concluded that there is sufficient evidence supporting the conviction for conspiracy to commit murder. (*People v. Ware, et al.* (2020) 52 Cal.App.5th 919, 937-944.) In doing so, the court correctly identified the governing law, which petitioner does not dispute, and reasonably weighed the evidence, which petitioner does dispute. Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeal erred by finding sufficient evidence supported his conviction for conspiracy to commit murder because his only connection to the coconspirators was common gang affiliation and social media posts, which failed to prove his involvement in the conspiracy. (Pet. at pp. 9-20.) But the Court of Appeal, unlike petitioner, properly viewed the entire record in a light most favorable to the judgment, and found more than ample evidence that appellant conspired to commit murder.

As correctly noted by the Court of Appeal, the standard of review for a claim that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction is whether, after reviewing all "the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact

could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." (Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 319, original italics; see People v. Ware, supra, 52 Cal.App.5th at p. 937, citing People v. Kraft (2000) 23 Cal.4th 978, 1053.) In making this determination, the reviewing court must presume every fact in support of the judgment that could have reasonably been deduced from the evidence. (People v. Rayford (1994) 9 Cal.4th 1, 23.) A reviewing court does not reweigh the evidence or re-evaluate the credibility of witnesses in reviewing a claim of insufficiency of the evidence. (People v. Guerra (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1067, 1129.) "A reversal for insufficient evidence 'is unwarranted unless it appears "that upon no hypothesis whatever is there sufficient substantial evidence to support" the jury's verdict." (People v. Zamudio (2008) 43 Cal.4th 327, 357.)

The Court of Appeal also correctly identified the elements of conspiracy to commit murder (and the jury was so instructed). (*People v. Ware, supra*, 52 Cal.App.5th at pp. 937-938.) Section 187, subdivision (a), defines murder as the unlawful killing of a human being, with malice aforethought. Section 182, subdivision (a)(1), states that a conspiracy is committed when two or more persons conspire to commit any crime. A criminal conspiracy exists when there is an unlawful agreement between two or more people to commit a crime, and an overt act in furtherance of the agreement. (*Ware, supra*, at p. 938; *People v. Morante* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 403, 416.)

"It is seldom possible for the prosecution to offer direct evidence of an agreement to commit a crime. The agreement to commit the crime is usually made in secrecy. The conspiracy must be inferred by the trier of fact from all the circumstances that are proven, and if the inference is a reasonable one it will not be disturbed on appeal." (Ware, supra, at p. 938 quoting People v. Chavez (1962) 208 Cal.App.2d 248, 253.) "Common design is the essence of a conspiracy and the crime can be committed whether the parties comprehend its entire scope, whether they act in separate groups or together, by the same or different means known or unknown to them, if their actions are consistently leading to the same unlawful result" (Ware, supra, at p. 938 quoting People v. Means (1960) 179 Cal.App.2d 72, 80.) "Evidence is sufficient to prove an agreement if it supports an inference that the parties positively or tacitly came to a mutual understanding to commit a crime. [Citation.] The existence of a conspiracy may be inferred from the conduct, relationship, interests, and activities of the alleged conspirators before and during the alleged conspiracy." (Ware, supra, at p. 938 quoting People v. Maciel (2013) 57 Cal.4th 482, 515-516.) "Each member of the conspiracy is liable for the acts of other members in carrying out the common purpose of the conspiracy." (Ware, supra, at p. 938 citing In re Hardy (2007) 41 Cal.4th 977, 1025.)

Applying the correct law, the Court of Appeal properly and reasonably found substantial evidence supported petitioner's conspiracy to commit murder conviction. The conduct, relationship, interests and activities of petitioner with his fellow 5/9 Brim gang members before, during and after the killings provided a strong evidentiary basis from which to infer that these

individuals had reached a tacit agreement to commit the murders.

Petitioner does not dispute the evidence of his entrenched involvement in his gang or the gang war but instead claims there is no evidence that he directly participated or aided and abetted in any of the shootings. (Pet. at pp. 10-11, 13-15.) But the Court of Appeal (as well as the jury) considered these very claims, and reasonably found regardless of the lack of direct evidence of participation there was ample evidence, based on petitioner's role and activities, to find he was part and parcel of the conspiracy to murder rival gang members.

Petitioner focuses on the evidence that is missing and asks this Court to reweigh the evidence. However, the reviewing court does not "focus on evidence that did not exist rather than on the evidence that did exist." (*People v. Story* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1282, 1299; *People v. Rodriguez* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 1, 12.)

As the Court of Appeal recognized in rejecting this claim, the crime of conspiracy can be committed whether the conspirators acted together or in separate groups, whether they used the same or different means known or unknown to some of them, but leading to the same unlawful result. (*People v. Lowery* (1988) 200 Cal.App.3d 1207, 1219.) And, as the Court of Appeal found, there was sufficient circumstantial evidence from which the jurors could conclude that petitioner knew of the conspiracy and "had the deliberate, knowing, and specific intent to join the conspiracy." (*People v. Ware, supra*, 52 Cal.App.5th at p. 941.)

Not only was petitioner a member of the 5/9 Brim gang hit squad, whose mission was to kill Crips, but the evidence also showed that he was a very dedicated and high level member who consistently advocated for Crip killing. Petitioner was also consistently found in the company of his fellow Hit Squad members, which further supported his involvement in the conspiracy to murder Crips. (See, i.e., 20 RT 2722-2741, 2743, 2807-2810; 28 RT 4212–4213, 4216.) And petitioner's possession of and proximity to firearms showed he was or could easily be armed if the opportunity to shoot rival Crip gang members arose. (28 RT 4228-4231.) In fact, in a May 2014 Facebook status update, petitioner posted, "Gangsters don't flick it with gigs. They use it." This meant that gang members do not take photographs with guns, they use them. (35 RT 5013-5014.)

Petitioner further claims that his conviction was impermissibly based on his gang membership and his "generalized" social media posts.⁹ (Pet. at pp. 11-13, 19.) Although association, by itself, does not prove criminal conspiracy, it is a fact to be considered. (*People v. Manson* (1976) 61 Cal.App.3d 102, 126.) Thus, association or gang membership may be a factor in finding substantial evidence of a conspiratorial agreement. (See *People v. Tran* (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 759, 772–773; *People v. Superior Court* (*Quinteros*) (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th

⁹ In his second claim, petitioner challenges the Court of Appeal's finding that use of his social media posts did not violate his First Amendment right to free speech. The answer, as ordered by this Court, addresses only issue number one.

12, 20-21 ["circumstances from which a conspiratorial agreement may be inferred include 'the conduct of defendants in mutually carrying out a common illegal purpose, the nature of the act done, the relationship of the parties [and] the interests of the alleged conspirators."].)

Here, social media added to the strong evidence that petitioner was part of the conspiracy. Petitioner used social media to advocate and rejoice in the killings of the rival gang members. In several postings, petitioner is with other Hit Squad members, tossing up 5/9 Brim gang signs and Crip killing signs. In fact, petitioner made numerous social media posts referencing killing Crips or "Nap bashing," and in one post, states that they put "rags around [their] face," so they do not get caught committing the crimes. (34 RT 4793–4794; 35 RT 4956–4957, 5004–5007, 5009–5019.) Petitioner also brags about his moniker, "Bick Nick," pointing out the "ck" in his name stands for Crip killer. (35 RT 5008–5009.) He used social media to disrespect and taunt rival Crip gang members. (22 RT 3249–3250, 3253; 35 RT 4929–4934, 5012, 5017–5022.) Petitioner was Facebook friends with at least two rival West Coast Crip gang members— Carlton Blue and Troy McKay. (35 RT 4999–5000.)

5/9 Brim member Gordon's April 2014 Facebook post introducing himself as "Little Bick Nick" referencing Crip killing, and petitioner's response, that he was "Big Bick Nick," showed that petitioner had been putting work towards OG status in the gang because a younger gang member only took an older gang

member's name when there was a level of respect. (36 RT 5115–5119.)

In addition, a moniker that had been associated with petitioner, "Baby Black Mikey," was included in the gang graffiti in a fellow gang member's garage. (35 RT 4834–4838.) During her interview, Person said that petitioner was about the gangster life. (34 RT 4734.)

Thus, in addition to common gang membership among the alleged conspirators, as set forth above, the circumstantial evidence showed that after the killing of Dereck Peppers, several members of the Hit Squad subset of the 5/9 Brim criminal street gang agreed to hunt down and kill rival West Coast Crip and Neighborhood Crip gang members. As the Court of Appeal concluded, when viewing evidence of petitioner's gang membership and social media posts, along with the evidence of the coconspirators' activities and petitioner's relationship to the coconspirators, there was sufficient evidence from which the jurors could find that petitioner "knew of the conspiracy and had the deliberate, knowing, and specific intent to join the conspiracy." (People v. Ware, supra, 52 Cal.App.5th at p. 942.)

Thus, although gang membership was a factor, it was not the sole evidence that established that petitioner was a member of the conspiracy to commit murder. Viewing the evidence as a whole, and not piecemeal as petitioner does, demonstrates that the Court of Appeal reasonably found that sufficient evidence supports petitioner's conviction for conspiracy to commit murder. Petitioner also asserts that his conviction cannot be upheld because of the 104 overt acts alleged in the Amended Information, he was only identified in three overt acts. (Pet. at pp. 15-18.) However, as the Court of Appeal correctly pointed out, "[o]ther than the agreement, the only act required is an overt act by *any* of the conspirators, not necessarily the defendant, and that overt act need not itself be criminal." (*People v. Ware, supra,* 52 Cal.App.5th at p. 938 quoting *People v. Smith* (2014) 60 Cal.4th 603, 616.)

In sum, this Court should reject petitioner's invitation to consider a fact-intensive question regarding the Court of Appeal's application of the law to the facts of this case. This issue does not involve an important question of law, nor is it necessary to secure uniformity of decisions in the lower courts.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, respondent respectfully requests that this Court deny review.